IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 66,618

CITY OF NORTH MIAMI,

Appellant,

VS.

FLORIDA DEFENDERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT, et al,

Appellees.

FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 18 1965

CLERK, SUPREME LUURT

Chief Deputy Chief

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLANT CITY'S INITIAL BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

David M. Wolpin City Attorney City of North Mismi

Simon, Schindler & Hurst 776 NE 125th St. North Miami, FL 33161 (305) 895-3257

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 66,618

CITY OF NORTH MIAMI,

Appellant,

vs.

FLORIDA DEFENDERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT, et al,

Appellees.

A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

(1) NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal pursuant to Rule 9.110, Fla. R. App. P., by which Appellant City seeks review by this Supreme Court of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal declaring invalid a portion of a state statute, to-wit: appropriation item 1312A of Chapter 83-300, Laws of Florida (1983), the 1983 General Appropriations Act, which portion had provided for the appropriation of \$8,500,000.00 to the Special Acquisition Trust Fund in connection with the State's purchase of the "Interama Lands" from the City.

The First District Court of Appeal in a decision dated December 28, 1984, and rendered January 30, 1985, reversed the September 29, 1983, Declaratory Judgment of the Trial Court and declared appropriation item 1312A invalid upon the basis that such appropriation failed to satisfy Florida Constitution Article III, Sec. 6 (title heading and textual content of amendment) and Sec. 12, (appropriations bill amending substantive law).

The Declaratory Judgment had been entered by the Circuit Court,

Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, in an action

initiated by Florida Defenders of the Environment, Inc., a Florida not-for

profit corporation, Marjorie H. Carr, Helen Hood and Joseph W. Little,

Taxpayers and Citizens of Florida, as Plaintiffs against Bob Graham,

Governor of Florida, Jim Smith, Attorney General, Bill Gunter, Treasurer and Insurance Commissioner, Gerald A. Lewis, Comptroller, Ralph Turlington, Commissioner of Education, George Firestone, Secretary of State, and Doyle Connor, Commissioner of Agriculture, Defendants.

Plaintiffs in the trial court are now Appellees before this Supreme Court and will be referred to as "Appellees" throughout this Initial Brief.

The Appellant City intervened as a party defendant in the trial court proceedings, participated as an appellee in the District Court and now appeals to this Court. The State officers enumerated above have not appealed the District Court's decision and are referred to hereafter as "State Officers".

References to the Record on Appeal from the Trial Court to the First District will be made by the letter "R" followed by page number, for example (R).

The course of the proceedings in the Trial Court and then in the First District may be traced as described below.

(2) PROCEEDINGS IN TRIAL COURT

On July 27, 1983, Appellees filed their "Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, Expungement from Statutes, Injunctive Relief, and other Appropriate Relief" (R 1-3) in which they alleged that two sections of Chapter 83-300, Laws of Florida, the General Appropriation Act for the 1983-84 Fiscal Year, failed to meet constitutional standards and demanded that the trial court declare the sections unconstitutional and void (R 2-3). Targeted by Appellee for judicial invalidation were items 1312A and 1668B (R 2) which appear as specific appropriations in Chapter 83-300, Laws of Florida. Appellees attack was two-fold. First, it was alleged

that these specific appropriations directed expenditure of funds from the Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund (CARL Fund) without complying with the procedures specified in Florida Statutes S253.023 and that the "...effect of them is to avoid the substantive provisions and procedures of Fla. Stat. S253.023, thereby making a pro tanto amendment of said Fla. Stat. S253.023 in violation of Article III, S12, 1968 Florida Constitution, to-wit, 'Laws making appropriations for salaries of public officers and other current expenses of the state shall contain provisions on no other subject,'..." (R 2)(Emphasis Added).

Appellees second attack entailed allegations that the specific appropriations constituted a substantive revision of Fla. Stat. S253.023 in violation of Article III, Sec. 6 1968 Florida Constitution requiring that every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith (R 2). Appellees further alleged that the title to the general appropriations bill did not express a revision to Chapter 253, Fla. Stat., 1981, and did not specify the portions to which the revision applied (R 2).

On August 17, 1983, the State Officers filed their Answer and Affirmative Defense (R 4-8), a Motion for Judgement on the Pleadings (R 9-10), and Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R 11-18).

On September 14, 1983, the Appellant City filed its Answer (R 45-48),

Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Notice of Adoption of Defendants

Memorandum of Law. (R 49-50).

On September 2, 1983, Appellees filed their Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R 33) with a "Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and in Support for

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment" (R 19-32). In their Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, Appellees asserted that the only issues in the pleadings and supporting memoranda were issues of statutory construction and law (R 33).

The above-described Answers and supporting memoranda of the State Officers and Appellant City disputed Appellees argument and affirmatively asserted:

- (1) That Section 253.023 provided for a continuing appropriation, as defined by Section 216.011(k);
- (2) That Section 253.023 created a trust fund for the State to use to buy land for the State, to be funded from specified excise taxes;
- (3) That a continuing appropriation may be altered or modified by a general appropriation bill without unlawfully amending general law;
- (4) That Appellees view of the facts was incorrect, since Chapter 83-300 actually appropriated \$35 million to the CARL fund and also appropriated \$8.5 million for the special acquisition of the North Dade property. The \$8.5 million appropriation thus did not take money "from" the Chapter 253 CARL fund, and hence did not "amend" Chapter 253. (R 4-8, 9-10, 11-18, 45-50).

Thus, the matter was presented to the trial court in the posture outlined above.

(3) TRIAL COURT'S VIEW

The Trial Court resolved the dispute which was before it by ruling that the Legislature had through Chapter 83-300 appropriated \$43.5 million -- \$35 million of the specified revenues for the CARL fund, and \$8.5 million of the specified revenues for the North Dade acquisition. (R 57-61)

The court pointed out that Chapter 253 assigned 50% of the specified revenues to the CARL fund, but that funds in excess of \$20 million "shall be transferred" to the general revenues. Thus the Trial Court also concluded that:

(1) Up to \$20 million in specified revenues was a continuing appropriation for the CARL fund; (2) Chapter 83-300 appropriated \$35,000,000 to the CARL fund; (3) the Legislature had also transferred \$8.5 million of the same revenues to the North Miami acquisition; and (4) this was entirely proper since these funds were not "CARL funds" under Chapter 253, but rather general revenue funds available for use as the Legislature deemed fit. (R 57-61)

The pertinent part of paragraph (8) of the Trial Courts

Declaratory Judgment recites that:

"...The court construes the items of the 1983 General Appropriation Act, Chapter 83-300, Laws of Florida, which have been challenged in this cause to be as hereinbefore stated, and declares that they are not in conflict with Sections 6 or 12, Article III, of the Florida Constitution. The cases of Brown v. Firestone, Fla. 1980, 382 So. 2d 654, and Department of Education v. Lewis, Fla. 1982, 416 So. 2d 465, are not applicable to this case."

(4) PROCEDURES IN DISTRICT COURT

The Appellees perfected their appeal to the First District Court and filed their Initial Brief and Reply Brief. Appellant City and the State Officers each filed an Answer Brief.

All parties maintained essentially the same position on appeal that they had advocated below, except that Appellees raised, for the first time in their brief on appeal, additional factual matters as to the existence of a \$38,314,468.25 CARL fund balance carryover to fiscal year 1983/84.

Subsequently to the issuance of the decision of the First
District Court of Appeal, Appellant City filed a motion for rehearing,
which was denied, and now pursues the instant appeal.

B. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant City respectfully asserts that the District Court's invalidation of budget appropriation 1312A in Chapter 83-300, Laws of Florida, is erroneous and is not mandated by Section 6 and 12 of Article III of the Florida Constitution.

Further Appellant City asserts that the Trial Court properly recognized that appropriation 1312A is a valid transfer of excess revenue under Sec. 253.023(2), F.S. and is not a substantive amendment within the sphere of Section 6 and 12 of Article III of the Florida Constitution.

Appellant City further asserts that the District Court erroneously relied on new factual matter, concerning carryover funds, raised by Appellees for the first time on appeal in the District Court, as a basis for characterization of the Trial Court analysis of the transfer as an unsupported assumption.

C. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

(1) Issue on Appeal

Whether the First District Court of Appeal errored in declaring invalid appropriation Item 1312A of Chapter 83-300, Laws of

Florida, upon the basis that said appropriation did not comport with Sections 6 and 12 of Article III of the Florida Constitution?

(2) Appellant's Position

Appellant City respectfully asserts that the Honorable

District Court of Appeal committed reversible error by declaring Item 1312A

of Chapter 83-300 invalid.

(3) Historical Background - Interama Land

It is appropriate to take note of part of the history of these troublesome "Interama Lands", which are the subject matter of this controversy, as a key to grasping the legislative intent and objective in adopting appropriation 1312A.

The Inter-American Center Authority was created in 1951 by Chapter 26614, Laws of Florida, 1951 as "an agency of the State of Florida". The Legislature stated that:

". . . the establishment of Inter-American Cultural and Trade Center in or near Miami, as a permanent year-round enterprise for the development of improved relations and increased trade with the republics of Latin American and other countries, will sustain employment and production, improve living standards, and contribute to national security and defense both in the United States and in other countries, as well as promoting a balanced foreign trade with Latin America;"

After failures and other statutory changes, (See for example, Ch. 69-138, Laws of Florida 1969, whereby the assets and the liabilities of the Authority were transferred to the County of Dade), on June 17, 1970, the Legislature adopted Chapter 70-108 whereby the earlier law, Chapter 69-138 was repealed; the Inter-American Center Authority was restored; and the following provisions in pertinent part were added to Chapter 554, F.S.:

"554.29 Allocation of property.-

- (1) The authority shall allocate the use of real property within the center, and designate the specific locations, as follows:
 - (a) Three hundred fifty (350) acres contiguous to the boundary of the City of North Miami shall be transferred to the City of North Miami upon the providing by the City of North Miami to the authority, sufficient funds to satisfy the existing bonded indebtedness of the authority not to exceed twelve million dollars (\$12,000,000.00). Said three hundred fifty (350) acres shall be utilized by the City of North Miami for recreational...without the prior approval of the authority, but under no circumstances shall said parcel be utilized for other than public purposes. . "

"554.30 Specific revenue bond.-

(1) The authority shall issue a revenue bond to the City of North Miami in the amount provided by the City of North Miami to the authority for the purpose of satisfying the existing bonded indebtedness of the authority. Said bond shall be for a term not exceeding thirty (30) years and shall contain such provisions as are determined by the authority." (emphasis added)

The Authority bond was never issued and it was all over for the Inter-American Center Authority in 1975. In Chapter 75-131, Laws of Florida 1975, Chapter 554, F.S., "and all sections thereof as presently constituted" was repealed. The land, property and liabilities of the Inter-American Center Authority were transferred to the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund. S2 of Chapter 75-131 provided as follows"

"All real and personal property presently owned by the Inter-American Center Authority, pursuant to S554.072, Florida Statutes, or otherwise, and all existing liabilities of said Authority, are hereby transferred to the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund. However, the liability to the Florida Department of Transportation for road and bridge work is hereby waived and satisfied. Except as provided in Section 4, all obligations in connection with contracts and bond issues of the Authority shall be assumed and performed by the

Trustees as provided by law or contract. No action shall be taken as a result of this act that will impair the obligations of any such contract or outstanding bonds."

Appellant City has taken the above brief detour into the lengthy history of the City's Interama Lands for the reason that the striking of appropriation item 1312A by the District Court has again resulted in a frustration of the State Legislature's intent and purpose of honoring the State's commitment to provide some relief to the City via the land sale transaction.

What is perhaps most upsetting to Appellant City is that, as the Trial Court recognized, Section 6 and 12 of Article III of the Florida Constitution do not mandate the harmful result reached by the District Court.

(4) District Courts Holding

The gist of the District Courts holding is that:

"In departing from the statutory requirements of S253.023 appropriation 1312A thereby effects a tacit amendment of existing law which, as indicated by Brown, Lewis, and Gindl, supra, is prohibited by Art.

III S12 of the Florida Constitution." (Footnote omitted)

The footnote to the above-quoted holding noted that:

"To the extent that appropriation 1312A effects a tacit

amendment of S253.023 it likewise fails to comport with

Art. III S6, with regard to the required title heading

and textual content of the amended section. . ."

(5) The Applicable Appropriation Statutes

The appropriation item invalidated from Chapter 83-300 by the District Court is item 1312A, set out below with pertinent non-invalidated provisions of Chapter 83-300:

Although Appellees challenged both appropriation 1312A and 1668B, the District Court found only 1312A to be unconstitutional.

In the second paragraph of footnote #4 of the District Court's Opinion, the Court pointed out:

"Appropriation 1668B, however, has not been shown by appellants to be necessarily dependent on appropriation 1312A. No other challenge being presented, we thus do not find appropriation 1668B to be constitutionally affected by the invalidity of appropriation 1312A."

Appellant CITY can only presume that the basis for the above quoted footnote language, from the District Courts perspective, must be that the record on appeal does not disclose whether there are any funds in the Special Acquisition Trust Fund other than the funds provided by item 1312A.

(6) District Courts Opinion Creates Uncertainty

The District Court's judicial invalidation of appropriation

1312A, while leaving appropriation 1668B intact as constitutionally sound,
raises new issues which impose further uncertainty upon the ultimate
resolution of the Interama land matter. In light of the District Court's

Opinion, the CITY is uncertain as to whether the State can utilize appropriation 1668B to proceed to close the land acquisition transaction. The CITY is likewise uncertain as to whether the District Court's Opinion leaves the Trial Court's Declaratory Judgement intact as to the portion of the judgment holding that appropriation 1668B, the ultimate vehicle for the closing of the land transaction, is valid.

(7) The Constitutional Standards

The Florida Constitutional Standards under which the appropriation item 1312A were scrutinized by both the Trial Court and District Court, with opposite results, are in pertinent part as set forth below.

Article III of the Florida Constitution provides:

"Section 6. LAWS.--

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title...Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection or paragraph of a subsection..."

"Section 12. APPROPRIATION BILLS. --

Laws making appropriation for salaries of public officers and other current expenses of the State shall contain provisions on no other subjects."

(8) Conflict of Analysis

The Trial Court and the District Court recognized, in the words of the District Court, that:

"Section 253.023, Florida Statutes, expresses a public policy to assure "the availability of public lands" for conservation and recreational purposes. The statute provides for the acquisition of designated lands, and Subsection 253.023(2) establishes a Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund (CARL Fund) "to be used as a non-lapsing, revolving fund exclusively for the purposes specified."

The analysis employed by the Trial and District Courts conflicted, as follows:

The Trial Court properly reasoned that appropriation 1312A merely effects the transfer of an excess appropriation and does not impact the provisions of Subsection 253.023. In reaching that conclusion the Trial Court assumed that appropriation 1668A encompassed an excess credit. However, the District Court erroneously determined that such a Trial Court finding is a finding improperly based on the unsupported assumption that appropriation 1668A contained an excess credit available for transfer.

Appellant CITY most respectfully suggests that the Trial Court's assumption in reference to the \$35,000,000.00 appropriation item 1668A was a reasonable judicial analysis of the situation in light of the yearly \$20,000,000.00 cap of Subsection 253.023(2), F.S. It is only when one considers the additional factual matters, as raised by Appellees for the first time in their initial brief on appeal in the District Court as to the existence of a \$38,314,468.25 CARL Fund balance carryover to fiscal year 1983/84, that the accuracy of the Trial Court's analysis may become questionable.

The vehicle used by Appellees to raise this fund carryover issue was an official looking copy of the "Florida Department of Natural Resources Combining Balance Sheet - Trust and Agency Funds, June 30, 1983" attached to Appellee's reply brief below.

Appellant City respectfully asserts that just as the Fourth

District Court of Appeal specifically refused to consider a post judgment

affidavit never presented to the Trial Court in the case of B.M.Z. Corp.

v. City of Oakland Park 404 So. 2nd 133, 134 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), the First District should have specifically refused to consider the above post judgment balance sheet, especially where, as here, Appellant City objected to the consideration of such new factual matter in its Answer Brief. See also Dober v. Worrell 401 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 1981).

Appellant CITY asserts that it is fundamentally unfair to

Appellant and disruptive to the judicial process to allow the injection of
such new and potentially material facts into the controversy subsequent to
the Trial Court's adjudication. The error of utilizing these new facts as
a means of destroying the Trial Court's assumption and analysis is
augmented by the fact that Appellees suggested to the Trial Court, at page
7 of their September 1983 memorandum of law, that they would accept a
construction based on just such an assumption.

9. Cases Relied On By District Court

In striking down the challenged appropriation 1312A, the

District Court expressed its reliance on Brown v. Firestone 382 So.2d

654 (Fla. 1980), Gindl v. Dept. of Education 396 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1979)

and Dept. of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1982)

Appellant CITY asserts that the cases relied upon by the District Court do not require the conclusion reached, for the reason that, as the Trial Court observed:

The fiscal transfer of the \$8,500,000 from the Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund to a "Special Acquisition Trust Fund" is a transfer to the new fund of only that portion of the CARL trust fund which is within the excess funds over the \$20,000,000 minimum for CARL purchases specified in Subsection 253.023 and are made part of the General Revenue Fund, available for other legislative disposition.

The construction thus placed upon the challenged items does not have the effect which plaintiffs have asserted. There is no substantive amendment to Subsection 253.023, and thus no violation of either Section 6 or Section 12 of Article III of the Florida Constitution." (Declaratory Judgment, paragraph 7, emphasis added.)

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