IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 66, 618

CITY OF NORTH MIAMI

Appellant,

vs.

FLORIDA DEFENDERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT, et al,

Appellees.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 3 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA (462 So. 2d 59)

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

Respectfully submitted by:

Joseph W. Little
3/31 N.W. 13th Place

Gainesville, FL 32605

904-392-2211

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As held by the District Court of Appeal, First District, Special Appropriation § 1312A, Ch. 83-300, Laws of Florida, is unconstitutional and void. The enactment is plainly an appropriation measure that amends the substantive purposes of the Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund (CARL Fund) protanto, thereby, also amending CARL Fund statutes (§§ 253.023 and § 239.035, Fla. Stat.) protanto. Because Ch. 83-300 does not set out the amended sections and subsections in full, the protanto amending statute consequently violates Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const. and is void.

Section § 1312A is also void on the second ground that it, being plainly an appropriation, amends substantive law <u>pro tanto</u> in direct violation of Art. III, § 12, Fla. Const., which takes away the power of the legislature to amend substantive law in an appropriation enactment.

The legal status of § 1668B, Ch. 83-300, Laws of Florida, is not uncertain. Because the court below ruled it to be constitutional, the only question is whether the fund referred to within the provision has monies in it from a valid source. At this stage, this is an administrative and not a judicial question. No clarification of the opinion below is needed to answer it.

The court below was correct on all points and this Court should affirm its holding that § 1312A is void and its order that the Comptroller ignore it and that the Secretary of State strike it from Ch. 83-300.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The meaning of the term "Appellees" as used in Appellant's initial brief is clarified as followed.

The initial plaintiffs in this case sued Bob Graham, Governor, and the members of the Florida Cabinet. The present Appellant, City of North Miami, intervened as a party defendant. The trial court judge held for all defendants against all plaintiffs.

In proceedings before the District Court of Appeal, First District, the original plaintiffs were appellants and all defendants participated as appellees. The trial court judgment was reversed.

In the current proceedings, only the City of North Miami is participating as an appellant. The Governor and Cabinet have chosen not to appeal. Consequently, under Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(f)(2) all other parties who participated in the proceeding in the District Court of Appeal, including the Governor and Cabinet, are technically Appellees in this proceeding.

The term "Appellees" is used herein to describe the original plaintiffs in this matter.

ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT SPECIAL APPROPRIATION S1321A, CH. 83-300, LAWS OF FLORIDA, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND VOID

In the opinion below, 462 So. 2d 59, the District Court of Appeal, First Direct invalidated S1312A, Ch. 83-300 Laws of Florida, on the ground that the enactment violates Art. III, SS6 and 12, Fla. Const. In its opinion the District Court correctly applied the laws and constitution of Florida in strict conformance with this Court's clear, repeated and recent interpretations in a series of cases including Brown v. Firestone, 382 So. 2d 654 (Fla 1980), Gindl v. Department of Education, 396 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1981), Department of Education v. Lewis, 416 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1982) and Orr v. Trask, ___ So. 2d ___, No. 65487 (Fla. 1985).

Because the court below correctly decided the matter, Appellees herein will not spend time rebutting Appellant's attempted revival of the erroneous trial court holding that was soundly repudiated by the District Court of Appeal. In this regard this Honorable Court should note that the erroneous arguments were initially advanced by the Governor and cabinet members, the original defendants in this case. Present Appellants merely adopted those arguments by Notice of Adoption of Defendant's memorandum of Law. (See Appellant's initial brief p. 3) The Court should also note that the Governor and Cabinet have not appealed the holding of the District Court of Appeal that repudiated the arguments formerly advanced by them.

The issue in this case is whether the legislature may, by enacting a line item special appropriation (namely, the disputed \$1312A of Ch. 83-300, Laws of 1983), appropriate money from a protected trust fund (namely, the CARL Fund [Conservation and Recreation Lands Trust Fund] \$253.023, Fla. Stat. (1981)) to be used for a purpose other than the exclusive purposes for which the Trust fund monies are specifically limited in \$253.023(3) and without complying with the exclusive procedures prescribed by law in \$259.035, Fla. Stat. (1981) for selecting lands to be purchased from the protected fund. Relying upon Art. III, \$56 & 12, Fla. Const. as applied by this Court in Brown, Gindl, and Lewis, supra., the District Court of Appeal correctly held that \$1312A was unconstitutional and void.

The Florida Defenders of the Environment (FDE) and the other individual plaintiffs to the initial suit in this matter have for years manifested a strong commitment to protecting Florida's natural environment. Protection of endangered and environmently sensitive lands has been a matter of highest priority to them. For that reason, FDE and some of the named defendants worked diligently, directly and successfully to support the creation and adoption of the CARL Fund program and have, since its initiation, worked actively and directly to assure that its procedures and purposes were strictly complied with in the appropriation and expenditure of the trust fund monies.

In three successive legislative years the legislature has attempted to "raid" the CARL Fund by the use of a proviso or line item special appropriation in the general appropriation bill. In each instance an attempt has been made to take \$8.5 million from

the protected CARL Fund to purchase a parcel of land that has not been selected as suitable by the mandatory CARL Fund selection procedures prescribed in S259.030, Fla. Stat. (1981) and that does not meet the exclusive CARL Fund purposes prescribed in S253.023(2). In each instance FDE and various individual Florida citizens and taxpayers have filed actions to have the proviso or special appropriation declared unconstitutional and expunged from the statute books.

The action against measures enacted in the 1981 (a proviso to §3, Ch. 81-206, Laws of Fla.) and 1982 (§31, Ch. 82-215, laws of Florida) was ended satisfactorily to the plaintiffs by the lapsing of the disputed provisions as a matter of law during the pendency of the litigation. This is evidenced by a Joint Motion to Dismiss filed by all parties in Case No. 82-1642, Cir. Ct. for the 2nd Jud. Circuit, in and for Leon County. Also during the pendency of that action, the 1983 legislature enacted the 1983-84 General Appropriations Act, Ch. 83-300, Laws of Fla. (1983), including three specific appropriations that pertain directly or indirectly to the CARL Fund. They are:

- 1668A Fixed Capital Outlay
 CARL Program
 From Conservation and Recreation
 Lands Trust Fund......35,000,000
- 1668B Fixed Capital Outlay
 North Dade County Land Purchase
 From Special Acquisition Trust Fund..8,500,000

Section 1668A is the annual appropriation from the CARL Fund to the CARL Program to make purchases in accordance with SS253.023 and 259.035. The validity of that provision is not in dispute.

Appellees argued below that S1312A and S1668B together constituted a two step specific appropriation from the protected CARL Fund that should collectively be declared unconstitutional on the ground that they amended SS253.023 and 259.035 pro tanto without complying with the requirements of Art. III S6 ("Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection or paragraph...) and Art. III S12 ("Laws making appropriations ... shall contain provisions on no other subject.") Brown, Gindl, Lewis and Orr, supra., all invalidated similar specific appropriations and provisos on the ground asserted by Appellees.

The District Court of Appeal agreed completely with this argument as it applies to S1312A, ruled the provision to be invalid, ordered the Comptroller to disregard it, and ordered the Secretary of State to strike it from ch. 83-300. (462 So. 2d at 61, 62.) The District Court's holding prevents the unconstitutional raiding of the CARL Fund and wholly satisfies the purpose of Appellees in initiating the action.

The District Court also held that S1668B of itself could theoretically stand alone and, considered alone, did not violate the cited constitutional provisions. This acknowledges that the invalidation of S1312A prevents the wrongful misappropriation of CARL Fund monies to S1668B but does not rule out the theoretical possibility that funds may have been legally appropriated to

S1668B from some other source. Because the CARL Fund is protected by this interpretation, Appellees do not contest it.

When the inquiry is sharply focused upon S1312A alone as done by the District Court of Appeal, the proper mode of analysis of the issue presented herein is immediately apparent. First, is S1312A, Ch. 83-300, an appropriation measure? Second, does the implementation of S1312A modify substantive law <u>pro tanto?</u> And, third, if it does, does the modification violate either Art. III, S6, Fla. Const. (requiring that amending laws set out amended sections, etc.) or Art. III S12 (taking away the power of the legislature to use appropriation bills to make law on any subject except appropriations)?

The District Court of Appeal correctly answered each of these questions in the affirmative and declared S1312A to be unconstitutional and void. First, S1312A is an element of the 1983 General Appropriations Act and plainly purports to appropriate \$8.5 million from the CARL Fund to the Special Acquisitions Trust Fund (STA FUND). As to that element of the analysis, no dispute can sensibly be voiced; § 1312A is plainly on its face an appropriations measure.

Second, S1312A in application does modify substantive law pro_tanto. As stated by the District Court of Appeal, the CARL Fund is established by S253.023(2), Fla. Stat., "as a nonlapsing, revolving fund exclusively for the purposes of this section [S253.023].]" (e.s.) Moreover under S253.023(1) and S259.035(2)(c), "All proposals for acquisition projects pursuant to...s. 253.023 shall originate from the committee." (e.s.) The Committee referred to is composed of high state executive

officials designated by S259.035(1). Furthermore, the exclusive specific purposes for which CARL Fund monies may be used are prescribed and limited by S253.023(3). (Copies of all cited provisions are attached as Appendix A.)

Section 1312A plainly satisfies neither the prescribed exclusive substantive purposes of S253.023(3) nor the exclusive selection procedures of S259.035(2). Therefore, in application, it would have the effect of modifying those provisions pro tanto in the manner of various provisions disputed in Brown, Gindl, Lewis and Orr, supra. Although Appellees will not unnecessarily burden this brief with quotations to demonstrate this, it is worth pointing out that the attempted circumvention of the S259.035 selection committee is virtually identical to the proviso modifying established statutory decision mechanisms condemned by Brown (382 So. 2d at 659, 669) and that the attempted avoidance of the substantive criteria of S253.023 is virtually identical to the appropriations item changing the formula for distributing funds condemned by Gindl (396 So. 2d at 1106). This Court struck both provisions on the ground asserted herein. Lewis and Orr stand for the same point. It, thus, is clear that the District Court of Appeal was correct to hold that S1312A amends substantive law pro tanto.

The District Court of Appeal was also correct to rule that S1312A violates Art. III SS6 and 12, Fla. Constitution. These provisions state:

SECTION 6. LAWS.-

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title ... Laws to revise or amend shall set out in full the revised or amended act, section, subsection or paragraph of a subsection ...

SECTION 12. APPROPRIATION BILLS.-

Laws making appropriation for salaries of public officers and other current expenses of the state shall contain provisions on no other subject.

First, the fact that S1312A amends substantive law <u>pro tanto</u> without setting out the "revised or amended act, etc." as required by Art. III S6 is apparent on its face, as held by the court below. (462 So. 2d at 61 n. 4). Moreover, no other part of Ch. 83-300, Laws of Florida, which is a part of the trial record, cures this defect. Second, the fact that S1312A, which is a line item appropriation in the General Appropriation Act, amends substantive law <u>pro tanto</u> plainly violates Art. III, S12, as held by the court below. (462 So. 2d at 61). These holdings are clearly mandated by this Court's specific holdings in <u>Brown</u>, <u>Lewis</u>, <u>Grindl</u> and <u>Orr</u>, supra.

In sum, the District Court of Appeal correctly held that S1312A violates Art. III, Florida Constitution, and is, therefore, void.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS' DECISON CREATES NO UNCERTAINTY ABOUT THE LEGAL STATUS OF S1668B CH. 83-300, LAWS OF FLORIDA

In the trial court and the district court below, Appellees argued, in effect, that SS1312A and 1668B were inextrically connected in unconstitutionally appropriating monies from the CARL Fund to the STA Fund and, consequently, both were void. The District Court of Appeal quite appropriately tested the constitutionality of the two provisions independently. Under that approach, the District Court found no basis on the face of the statutes to invalidate S1668B. In sum, if monies have been validly placed in the STA Fund by some source other than the unconstitutional S1312A appropriation from the CARL Fund, then those funds would remain available for the purposes stated in S1668B.

This status creates no uncertainty. If the STA Fund has monies available from some valid source, then S1668B provides an appropriation from that fund for the stated purposes. If the STA Fund possesses no funds (or inadequate funds), then S1668B's attempted appropriation is a mere nullity. The answers to these kinds of questions are available from the Comptroller and other executive officials. They can be propounded by a telephone call or correspondence and are not judicial questions. In addition, given the invalidity of § 1312A, Appellees are not proper parties to litigate matters pertaining solely to § 1668B.

In sum, the legal status of S1668B under the District Court of Appeal's opinion is not uncertain. Consequently, the plea to

refer the matter for clarification in the courts below should be denied.

Conclusion

In <u>Brown v. Firestone</u> and the other cited cases this Court has emphatically asserted that Art. III §6 and 12, Fla. Const. are intended to and do protect the citizens of Florida against log rolling and other abusive legislative practices. Particularly, this Court has time and again invalidated legislative attempts to modify substantive law in appropriations bills. <u>Brown</u> and the other cases are clear, concrete and unequivocal on these points.

Despite this Court's plain admonitions, the legislature has attempted three times to invade the protected CARL Trust funds, silently amending <u>pro tanto</u> substantive criteria and procedures in the process, to make a state expenditure that the majority of the members of the legislature is apparently unwilling to fund by simple means of enacting a specific appropriation from the <u>general</u> fund. Appellees do not deny that the legislature has the power to enact an appropriation from the general fund to make the particular purchase. What Appellees do steadfastly deny is that the legislature may invade a protected trust fund in violation of Art. III, SS6 and 12, Fla. Const., which have been adopted by the people of Florida to place restraints upon the legislature in how it conducts the business of the people.

In sum, Appellees respectfully pray that this Honorable Court affirm the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, invaliding S1312A and ordering the Comptroller to ignore it and the Secretary of State to strike it from the statutes, and deny the other relief requested by appellants.